Editorial:
CAN AWARDS MAKE ANY DIFFERENCE?

The midnight call on June 2 informed the editor that 21-member jury comprised of Human Rights Institutes of Bordeaux, Brussels, Paris and European Bar Human Rights have conferred him the Ludovic Trarieux International Human Rights Award 2006. The award shall be formally conferred on October 13, in the National School of Magistracy in France. Two years back the editor was also nominated for the same prize but that time it was conferred to a Syrian lawyer Akhtam Maisse. The award has been created in 1984, in the memory of a French lawyer Ludovic Trarieux, who in 1898 founded “The French League for the Defence of Human Rights and the Citizen”. The first recipient was Nelson Mandela in the year 1985, then in jail. The editor is the 11th recipient of this award. The editor is not the first person from the valley to be awarded with an international award. Thanks to the conflict, there are many local journalists and human rights activists who have received the international awards from last 15 years from different organisations/foundations. International and national awards have been conferred to the Kashmiris, the former for their contributions acknowledged by the international organisations and the latter for promoting the government’s agenda in the conflict torn state. National awards like Bharat Gaurav to politicians; Presidential awards to army and police officials have been conferred for their ‘outstanding contribution they have rendered to the people’. 

Awards have been seen as recognition and acknowledgment of the organisations/individuals. Sometime, it is more lobbying than the contribution made by the organisations/individuals. It is, therefore, even the most prestigious award like Nobel Prize has sometimes become controversial. The true recognition and acknowledgement is finally conferred by the history. In history we see the people whose ideas have changed the world and who have laid down their lives for the betterment of the human lives from the time immemorial but during their lifetime they were not conferred what was due to them. Instead they faced persecution, poverty, penury during their lifetime. These immortal souls to whom humanity owes and whatever they did in their lifetime without any consideration have become inspiration for people like us to follow them. Somehow, we are living in a better world now where people are acknowledged, rewarded for whatever little they do. 

For the editor, the importance of the prize was manifold. Of course, it would be understatement to say that one was not excited and it was a personal satisfaction to be rewarded for the job, which is thankless here. The important issue related to the prize is of security, which by the international recognition (though may not be 100 percent foolproof) could enhance the personal security of the editor. The more one is internationally recognized, the lesser are the chances of getting victimized. And the other, about the travel documents, which the government of India has denied without giving any reason to the editor for last one and a half year.  

After the editor was nominated for the award, an intensive international campaign was launched for making his travel documents an issue. On October 9, 2006, there were demonstrations “Shame on India Campaign” carried out by Amnesty International, French Group, Inter Church Peace Council (IKV), International Peace Council and Lawyers Without Borders (LWB). There were picketing in front of India Embassy in Netherlands with banners to support the Kashmiri people in their struggle for genuine democracy. The Observatory for Protection for Human Rights Defenders - France, International Federation of Human Rights (FIDH) and World Organisations Against Torture (OCMT) reiterated their deep concern over the non-issuance of editor’s travel documents. The institutes of European Bar Associations and European Democratic Lawyers call upon the government of India to put an end to the harassment of human rights defenders and adhere to the UN Declaration on Human Rights Defenders adopted on 9th December 1998. 

Besides, the organizations, innumerable friends from Europe and America sent urgent appeals to Indian President and Prime Minister urging for issuance of travel documents to the editor for receiving the award per se in France. It was shocking for most of the civil society leaders in Europe that how come a largest democracy like India can stop issuing travel documents to human rights defenders that too for receiving a prestigious award. It was unbelievable for them. Some of them from Geneva had personally met the Indian diplomats and they assured them that the documents will be issued, as travel document is the fundamental right of an Indian citizen. Believing their statement some of them congratulated the editor and advised him for packing up to France for attending the award ceremony. 

 
Least bothered with the ‘noises’ made here and there, the government decision remained unchanged, which was also expected by the editor. On October 13, the award was received by the editor’s wife amidst the fear whether she will be allowed to leave the country. Under democracy, the most undemocratic things can be made. The international outcry could embarrass the undemocratic regimes which succumb to these ‘noises’ easily; example: Mukhtaran Mai, a rape victim from Pakistan was allowed to go to US to receive an award for her courageous work to expose the most sensitive issue of condition of women in Pakistan. The editor was satisfied to the extent that the denial to his travel documents was made an issue and there were sympathies towards the human rights defenders. The important aspect is also that it inspires a section of the society here, who otherwise perceive that the human rights defenders are the only canon fodders or sitting ducks. It will be premature to say finally who will have the last laugh; the perpetrators or the human rights defenders, as conflict seems to continue unfortunately, and we also have to realize that states have become more brutish, insensitive and oppressive. More and more, the governments are now ignoring the international concerns.   
KASHMIRI YOUTH TORTURED TO DEATH IN DELHI
Irshad Ahmad Lone, a Kashmiri boy died on October 9, 2006 in Sushrut trauma Centre in New Delhi. His family alleged that he was tortured by Delhi police, which resulted in his death.

 
In Srinagar, a few hundred men and women demonstrated against Delhi Police accusing it of the murder. They were also shouting pro-freedom slogans and anti-India slogans. The protesters termed Irshad’s killing as “state terrorism.” 

Local policemen and CRPF troopers fired dozens of tear smoke canisters towards the fleeing protesters and beat them up with bamboo sticks. It couldn’t be known how many people were wounded in the CRPF and police action. 

 The parents of Irshad Ahmad Lone described the investigations launched under Delhi police commissioner K K Paul into the murder of their son as drama and fraud. 

A Delhi based human rights group, People’s Union for Democratic Rights (PUDR) conducted a fact finding of the incident and brought out a report, which we are publishing for the interest of our readers.

PUDR REPORT

WHY WAS IRSHAD AHMAD LONE KILLED?

Paramjeet Singh and Gautam Navlakha (PUDR)

On September 21, 2006 twenty three year old Irshad Ahmad Lone s/o Ali Mohammed Lone of Chanapora, Srinagar left his home to seek employment in Delhi. Irshad had obtained his training in automobile engineering and had worked as a trainee mechanic in Rahim Motors in Srinagar. When he left Srinagar he had Rs 13,000 on him. Eighteen days later on October 8th at 6.40 a m he was found naked near ISBT flyover. He was taken to the sushrut trauma centre.  When his brothers saw him he found there were wounds on his body with what appeared to them to be cigarette burns, bites, bruises and lesions. He was also found marks on his head, which appeared as sustain blow. His right index finger was also broken and his ankles and genitals were swollen. 

The family approached People’s Union for Democratic Rights (Delhi) and Public Commission on Human Rights (Srinagar). PUDR carried out a fact finding. 

Family Version

1. The family told PUDR team that on October 5 Irshad had called his brother Tariq and complained about one SSP Hanief Qureshi of Gurgaon police and one advocate Anil Chouhan. He said they were “troubling” him (woh tang karte hain). He wanted Tariq to file a FIR against them.

2. On October 6, the day he disappeared, when Irshad called up the family, they enquired about the SSP and advocate, he told them to forget the whole thing and also said that they had become “friends”.

3. The last time the family heard from Irshad was on October 6 at around 5 pm. Three calls were made from Pataudi Chowk and Machi Market in Old Delhi and requested the family to send him money immediately. 

4. His brother Tariq’s wife had received a mysterious call (date???) from someone who mentioned his name as Mohammad Sahib and that he was auto-rickshaw driver and was wondering what he should do with Irsahd. Tariqs’s wife told him not to worry that his brother would be in Delhi soon with the money.

5. The family also wondered how the police found Irsahd’s Srinagar number when he was found naked.  

6. They said that ASI Ramjilal, who informed the family when Irsahd was taken to the hospital, first said that it was in an accident. When the family said that these wounds could not have been due to accident he changed tack and claimed that there are instances where the Gurgaon police picks up somebody and dumps him in Delhi to put the blame on Delhi police. 

7. They also said that Irshad was into sports and self-defense and was a tough kid and kids in the neighbourhood knew that he was no pushover. 

PUDR team proceeded on the basis of the above and following information:

8. Irshad Lone’s movements can be traced till about 5-6 pm of October 6, 2006. Between then and discovery of him naked but badly injured by a PCR van on October 8th at 6.40 am remains a mystery. 

9. According to the news item published in Indian Express (by Rahul Tripathi and Aditya Kaul) , dated 14th October 2006, the Imam of Gurgaon’s Jama Masjid  had been visited by a team of policemen on Saturday, October 7, 2006. The news report quotes the Imam as saying that “(s)ome policemen from Delhi came to us and asked about this boy. They never told us about his whereabouts”. 

Police version

10. We spoke to the SHO of P.S. Kashmere Gate on Sunday November 12. He told us that the story of the Imam as carried by the Indian Express is wrong and that police has his disposition wherein the Imam claimed that Delhi police visited him first on Tuesday, October 10, 2006. When he was reminded that the Indian Express report says otherwise he said he doesnot know why they claimed that Imam says police visited him on 7/10/06. When the team asked him what were the leads they were following he informed that their leads have run dry after around 5.30 pm. The last witness they have is a police chowki incharge of Jama Masjid (Md Khan) who told Irshad. According to him he asked Irshad to find a place to stay in Daryagunj and that was the last he saw of him. 

11. When the team asked the SHO if they were even investigating the possibility that Israhd being a young Kashmiri Muslim with beard and all could have been picked up by say Special Cell and tortured and later dumped him. The SHO said that he has not heard of police torture in which teeth bites are employed. I asked him what does he mean? He said that there were three marks of teeth bites. 

12. During our visit to the Kashmiri Gate PS, on Monday 13/11/06 the SHO Mr Vikas Verma did not show us the file but allowed us to read the postmortem report. The post mortem report shows multiple injury marks on his body. When we asked him was he conscious or regained consciousness when brought to Sushruta Trauma Centre? The SHO said Irshad enough senses to give his name, phone number in Srinagar and address. And that the MLC, which is filled by the doctor, mentions these details. 

13. The SHO also read out a complaint, which Irshad had filed with the SSP Gurgaon. What he read out appeared garbled. Irshad mentioned in the letter that when he was in the second class his father asked him to prove that science can establish that God exists. Next he says that he has studied till matric and done diploma course but can with the help of physics show that God exists. Why he wrote this in form of a complaint escapes us.

14. The SHO also mentioned that Irshad wanted a place to stay at Jama masjid Gurgaon. However, Imam of Jama masjid did not like the way he used to do namaz.  The SHO also mentioned that Imam had told Irshad not do his namaz in the masjid. 

15. The SHO also told that Irshad wanted to meet Shahi Imam of Jama Masjid in Delhi which he was denied

16. The SHO also told that the place where Irshad was found is a busy road and that it is very difficult not only to kill someone there but also difficult to dump a body there. He was found on the divider as if somebody had thrown him from a very fast moving vehicle.

17. He also told that the investigation is not leading ahead because the family is not cooperating. The family had given the police some phone number where Irsahd had called up during his stay in Gurgaon. The police have investigated but these numbers are not giving any lead. The police has also got the list of phone numbers from the PCO from where Irshad used to make calls 

Imam’s version

18. Meanwhile, the team also rang up Imam’s office enquired on the basis of news report appeared in Indian Express. Imam denied having said anything about police visiting him on Saturday 7/10. When the team asked the Imam as to why would the newspaper make up a lie and that Rahul Tripathy who interviewed Imam had his recorded interview with him to which Imam said that at the time of interview there were other people present here who can confirm what he was saying. 

Cross checking

19. The team again called up Rahul Tripathi who said that he had a recording somewhere and that he is absolutely certain of what he wrote. 

20. Contrary to news reports Irshad did not get a job in Maruti Udyog. Therefore, his dismissal few days later because he was a kashmiri too was wrong. The fact that he left for Delhi on October 6 and perusal of his complain filed with SSP Gurgaon suggests that place of crime could not have been Gurgaon and involvement of Gurgaon police seems remote. 

21. Later the team spoke to the family and shared what we had learnt from police and other details. Irsahd’s father said that there was nothing wrong with Irsahd. When the team told him that according to Tariq two years back he had been treated by Dr Mushtaq Marghoub and Dr Aslam for being mentally unwell, the father said that Irshad was alright when he left Srinagar for Delhi. And that he was under no medication. The team told the family that we are asking this because police seem to link his mental health to being the trigger that resulted in his murder. 

22. The team also told the family that police seem to believe that Irshad belonged to a puritanical sect of Islam (Ahl e Hadith) which frowns on worship of sufi saints etc and he might had got into a fight at Gurgaon’s Jama Masjid over the Indian Muslim’s offering of namaz and therefore could also have gotten into a fight over sectarian matters in Jama Masjid Delhi. Also that he appeared to be hi strung and short tempered and could have got into a situation where he was accosted by some people in Jama Masjid, badly beaten and then dumped at ISBT flyover. 

In short barring the news report in Indian Express attributed to the Imam wherein he claimed that cops had visited him on October 7, 2006 i.e. a day before he was found on ISBT flyover there was nothing to link the Delhi cops with this incident. And now that doubts have been cast on even this report and because of the presence of teeth marks on his body custodial death is ruled out.   

However, what is causing us some disquiet is the following:

1. While likelihood of police custodial death may be low what is there to say that:

a. Could it be that police is shielding some high profile people from Jama Masjid? 

b. It would seem that the last person to see him alive as far as the SHO is concerned is the chowki incharge at Jama Masjid. Could he know more?

2. While we are now unsure about the Indian Express story and Rahul Tripathi is not returning our calls. 

a. What could be the reason. 

b. Is it that they have no recording to back their claim? 

c. If he has the recording, which seems more likely, because the story filed with the headlines given, no newspaper will do that unless they are sure that the reporter has evidence to point fingers at the police. So could he be under pressure not to talk to us?

3. If Irshad was accosted by some unknown persons in or near Jama Masjid, Delhi they have to be fairly resourceful because vagabonds or addicts (which is what SHO was hinting towards as possible murders) could not have managed to take his body and dump it at ISBT. A vehicle must have been used to carry it and place it on the main thoroughfare on ISBT flyover.

4. He had carried Rs 13,000 when he left Srinagar on 21/9. In 16 days he blew the money (he was not into drugs, alcohol, cigarettes etc) and did not have even Rs 28 on October 6, 2006 to clear his PCO bill. The owner told the cops that he asked Irsahd to leave. If he owed people money why would they torture him when the family had told the auto rickshaw driver not to worry Irsahd’ brother would be reaching Delhi with the money. 

5. According to SHO October 6 was a Friday and probably 12th or 13th day of Ramzan. On that day he went to Delhi’s Jama Masjid and wanted to meet Imam Bukhari. He was told that this was not possible. Could there be more to this than what the SHO says? Was there a scuffle?  

Unfortunately, at this point we are unable to proceed further. Unless something else emerges we believe we should suspend this fact finding.

BROTHER SISTER DUO FELL TO THE BULLETS OF TROOPS

On October 3, 2006, Alan Gadole, Kokernag village in South Kashmir approximately 85 kilometers from Srinagar witnessed the killings of brother-sister duo and injuries to two others due to the firing of 36 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) when they were on their way back to home. The incident enraged the villagers and they protested against the troops. 


Villagers pleading anonymity stated to The Informative Missive, “People of Alan Gadole were harvesting the maize in their fields up to late hours. One Hashim Ali Naik was also busy in harvesting maize along with his family. After finishing his work, he was returning to his home with his family late in the evening. While returning, Hashim was carrying a lantern (as directed by the army as to make their task easy to differentiate between militants and civilians). Soon the family on their way back reached near a stream, the army deployed there resorted to indiscriminate firing resulting into the death of Mohammad Ashraf Naik and Misra, both children of Hashim.  Abdul Kabir (Misra’s husband) and Lateefa (Ashraf’s wife) were also injured in the firing. 

The army made an abortive attempt to take the dead bodies in their custody in order to project them as militants. It was Hashim alone who raised alarm that attracted the attention of the residents in the vicinity. The villagers rushed to the scene and the army left the spot. Next day the villagers arranged vehicles and took the dead bodies to Islamabad (Anantnag) town in the form of a procession. En route, the procession was cane-charged and tear-gassed by the state police in order to prevent them from entering Islamabad (Anantnag) town. Braving the police action they proceeded to Islamabad (Anantnag) and demonstrated against the killings.

Senior civil and police officials reached the spot and assured protesters of probe into the shootout. Deputy Commissioner Islamabad G. A. Peer told protesters that a magisterial probe would be held into the incident. He also told that Kokernag police has already registered a case. 

Army version:-

 
The Army has regretted the Kokernag killings, saying the civilians were killed due to mistaken identity. 

 
In a statement, the Army said: On information, an Army column laid an ambush between village Phrumbu and Buna Alan on the night of 3/4 October. At about midnight, five persons were seen approaching the ambush site. As they entered the killing area, they were challenged by the ambush party. All five persons immediately started running. On this the ambush party opened fire resulting in two fatal and two non fatal civilian casualties. On ascertaining, it was found that the civilians were coming from the fields and were carrying agricultural implements, which was mistakenly taken as weapons at night by the ambush party. 

SPO ALLEGEDLY KILLED BY SOG & ARMY 

On October 22, Mohammad Ashraf, 35 son of Ghulam Qadir Lone resident of Sheeri, Baramulla was allegedly killed in cold blood by the SOG ( Special Operations Group) Kupwara and 6 Rashtriya Rifles in Model Town Sopore. 

 
Ghulam Qadir stated to The Informative Missive that Mohammad Ashraf was a Special Police Officer (SPO) and was deployed as a security guard to People’s Democratic Party (PDP) Zonal president Ghulam Hassan Rather of Sheeri, Baramulla. Actually it was on the recommendation of the zonal president Ghulam Hassan; he was recruited as an SPO in the police department. The zonal president got him posted at his residence. Despite being a security guard to the zonal president, he was also driving his private sumo vehicle. 

Ghulam Qadir said, “In the morning of October 22, Ashraf left for Fateh Garh, 3 kilometers from Sheeri in his private sumo vehicle. A day before, his vehicle was booked by some persons as they had to go Sopore, approximately 35 kilometers from Sheeri, Baramulla. On reaching Fateh Garh, four persons boarded his vehicle and moved towards Sopore. As soon as he reached Model Town Sopore, Ashraf’s vehicle was stopped by the Army and SOG personnel. It is believed that he was taken out of the vehicle and was shot at the chest causing his death on spot. Four persons from Fatehgarh who were inside the vehicle were arrested by the SOG and army”. 

Mohammad Yousuf, nephew of Ashraf told The Informative Missive, “Through reliable sources, we came to know that the four persons from FatehGarh, who were arrested after the killing of Ashraf are actually working for the army and they themselves killed Ashraf because while traveling with Ashraf they discussed some sensitive information, which was heard by Ashraf.  The four persons killed Ashraf so as to make sure that they are not harmed in any way by the leakage of the information. We even approached the Police Station, Sopore so as to file the FIR against the four persons, whom we believe are the murderers of Ashraf, but police did not registered the FIR”. 
Ashraf’s dead body was taken to the Police Station Sopore, from there it was taken to Kupwara, where the police has filed the FIR. Meanwhile, the family was informed about the killing of Ashraf. Some of the elderly people of the Sheeri village assembled and rushed towards Kupwara. Ashraf’s killing provoked protests and demonstrations in the Sheeri village. The demonstrators also voiced pro-freedom and anti - troops slogans and demanded for justice. 

Condemning SOG and the army, the villagers blamed the SOG personnel for killing their own men. The protesters said that Ashraf was a poor man and had a wife, two daughters and two sons. They demanded that the people responsible for the killing of the SPO should be identified and stern action taken against them.

 
Flaying the statement given by the SSP Kupwara that Ashraf was linked with Lashkar –e-Toiba and killed in an encounter, Ghulam Qadir told, “Ashraf was the lone bread earner for his poor family and was innocent. Police is doing so in order to cover up for their wrong doing”.

The other four persons arrested have filed the bail petition.

CUSTODIAL KILLING OF A LABOUR

Pakharpora (Budgam), October 20: 19-year-old labourer Muhammad Maqbool Dar was killed in custody on the Shab-e-Qadr Friday night by the soldiers of 53 Rashtriya Rifles of Army at Pakharpora. 

Next day on October 21, police recovered the body of Maqbool in a Maruti car, driven by soldiers, near Nagam army camp. The troops had picked up the youth from his home at Mohanpur village on Friday evening and then tortured him at 53 RR camp at Kanidagan. 

 
Torture marks were visible on his lifeless body. A portion of skin had been bitten off his chest, his face had been marked with hot iron rods, and the blood was still dripping from his private parts. A team of doctors who performed autopsy of Maqbool at Charari Sharif Hospital on October 21 told that “he died due to cardiac arrest caused by extensive torture and multiple burns. His private parts had been damaged.” 

 
The area observed a complete shutdown with protesters threatening to continue the protests till the culprits are punished. “This is a murder; police have accepted the fact that Maqbool was first abducted and then tortured to death inside the camp; culprits should be punished immediately,” said Muhammad Rajab, a resident. 

 
As the protesters swelled in number at Eidgah Pakherpora, shouting anti-army slogans, police had to call additional troopers of CRPF and cops from Charari Sharief and Budgam to control the situation, but the protests continued peacefully. Some people were carrying placards reading “Indian troops-killers of our youth.” 

“This is the second time an innocent has come dead out of that damned RR camp at Kanidagan. This time they should be punished. They tortured to death an innocent barber of Darwan in 2003,” said Shoaib Ahmad. 

Sensing trouble, police tried to calm down the protesters assuring them of fair investigation in the matter and bringing culprits to books. “We are with you in this situation and anyone found guilty in this case would be punished,” the Station House Officer of Pakherpora told the protesters. 

Meanwhile, villagers from Pakherpora told that a police team comprising the DSP Charari Sharif informed them that 11 soldiers, including the accused officer, Major Yadav of 53 RR, have been indicted in case. 

However, Senior Superintendent of Police Budgam, Ashiq Bukhari said the accused have not yet been named in the case though a case of abduction and murder has been filed against the troops. 

Government issued orders for a magisterial inquiry into the case. 

SPEECH OF MR. PARVEZ IMROZ FOR THE LUDOVIC-TRARIEUX AWARD

Mr. President, Ladies and Gentleman:

I am deeply honored to be conferred the Ludovic-Trarieux International Human Rights 2006 award. I am thankful to the Institute of the Human Rights of the Bar of Bordeaux and other institutions associated with Ludovic Trarieux Prize. I thank the Jury. This honor is shared by my team, and it has enhanced our confidence, morale and security. At the same time, I salute the courage shown by the other nominees from different countries. I can understand the difficulties that they are facing in their respective countries while upholding the truth and fighting for the rights of their people – showing grace under pressure. Courage, as it is said, is not the absence of fear but rather the judgment that something else which is more important than fear. 

In 1998, I traveled to the beautiful city of Paris to attend the fiftieth anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights at the Palae-de-Sie. Though I was eager to come again this year and participate in the prize ceremony, I cannot as the travel documents for which I applied twenty months back to the Passport Authority in Jammu and Kashmir State have not been granted to me, nor have I been formally informed of the reasons for their non-issuance. The passport is a fundamental right under the Indian constitution and also under Article 12 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), and its denial to human right defenders, who are not politically affiliated, is deplorable. Nevertheless, I can understand the ‘compulsions’ of the government of India in denying the issuance of these documents – its discomfort with people, particularly from the conflict areas, exposing the lies of the state before the international community. The Indian government is apparently fearful of my voice and averse to the voices of other Kashmiri civil society activists.

The people and organizations campaigning on my behalf are shocked by the Indian government’s denial of the passport to a human rights defender. The general perception is that India, being the largest secular democratic country adhering to peace, pluralism and non-violence, with institutions to protect the rights of citizens, is a country of 1 billion little Mahatma Gandhis. The perception of the nation as a success story, a rising economic power (with a 9% rate of growth), is being promoted by Official India and the corporate media. This is one side of India.

The other, un-official, invisible side of India is, that though a formal democracy, one third of the country is reeling under armed conflict. 170 out of 600 districts, comprising a total area larger than many European countries, are reeling under Maoist, Dalit, and tribal insurgencies due to a lack of substantive democracy, economic deprivations, dispossessions, social injustice and other forms of inequity. There is growing militarization to neutralize the insurgents in the Northeast and Kashmir. India is at the bottom of the UNDP report and amongst the top of Transparency International’s list of most corrupt governments. Recently, the UN special rapporteur on the right to food identified India as having the largest number of undernourished and one of the highest level of child malnutrition. Over half of India’s women are suffering from severe, chronic malnutrition. More Indians die of hunger now than in the 1990s.

India faces serious problems from growing majoritarian communalism. Whereas religion should not be a concern of the state in a secular country, in Gujarat, religious conversions require the permission of the state. Both converter and converted can be jailed up to three years and fined up to 50,000 rupees (approximately $1000). Religious organizations establishing schools imparting general education can be booked under the crime of allurement, punishable by the Gujarat Freedom of Religion Act.


India’s growing arms strength contributes to its political weakness. India may have acquired the capacity to destroy but it has little capability to build. India has become a highly militarized state. The Indian army is the busiest army in the world during peacetime. In order to contain the issues in the conflict areas, the government of India has resorted to brute military force instead of conflict resolution. Efforts have been confined to ‘conflict management’. That is also the case in Kashmir. Taking the matter to the UN, the government of India thereafter resiled its commitment to Kashmir’s right of self-determination. Since 1989, the government of India has responded brutally to the armed uprising in Kashmir, so as to neutralize combatant Kashmiris. Hundreds of thousands of non-combatant Kashmiris have been killed by the army, empowered by the Armed Forces (Special) Powers Act. The said act licenses law enforcement officials to kill and arrest at will, with legal impunity. They cannot be prosecuted without the sanction of the government of India. 

Sprawling military camps and cantonments dot every nook and corner. Fifteen to twenty percent of land in Kashmir is under direct physical occupation by the military presence, and more and more territory is being acquired for military purposes. There are more than half a million armed forces in the state of Jammu and Kashmir (some 600,000 according to the admission of former Deputy Chief Minister – Muzaffar Hussain Beigh): that is one trooper for every sixteen civilians. This enormous figure is greater than the combined force of many European armies. In addition to 70,000 local police, there are 3,770 officers of the Village Defence Committee and 23,200 Special Police Officers in J&K state.  Cordon and search operations (crackdowns) and interrogation (torture) are routinely employed. The Indian army has employed secret and not-so-secret armed bands to execute their more dirty tasks, like killing non-combatant figures of resistance. In many villages, water resources vital for agriculture have been diverted for use by the army. Jammu and Kashmir has been converted to ‘a beautiful prison’, as described by the European Parliamentary team. 

Beyond the act of physical occupation, the military presence controls all aspects of life, disconnects people from each other, and subjects them to all kinds of humiliations. The army is using more sophisticated efforts to subvert culture. The youth of Kashmir is being provided with drugs (June 2006 Action Aid report). The army has refused to vacate some 50 occupied schools, and has established its own institutions as well. Under Operation Sadhbhavna (Good Will), the army is sponsoring ‘Indian familiarization tours’ for Kashmiri children who cannot visit their own heritage sites, most of which are occupied by the military.

Besides legal impunity, the army is enjoying moral and political impunity from the Indian state, which is projecting the army’s campaign as a ‘fight against terrorism spearheaded by secessionist and Islamic fundamentalists’. The systematic and institutional oppression in Kashmir is unfortunately supported by the Indian corporate media, who are disseminating the state’s campaign, dis-informing the public, withholding truth from the Indian people and thereby making the Kashmir imbroglio more complicated. The daily harassments, extra judicial killings, custodial deaths and enforced disappearances by the army are minimally reported. There is an obsession with projecting the Kashmiri democratic struggle as a fundamentalist pan-Islamic movement. It is a pity that even India’s vibrant civil society, which has taken critical positions on Iraq, Palestine and Afghanistan, does not dare take a stand on Kashmir, but rather observes it like the proverbial three monkeys. The few conscientious objectors who have the audacity to speak the truth about Kashmir, question the government of India and the army, have been ostracized.


The general perception is that through the bilateral negotiations, Pakistan and India are engaged in a meaningful dialogue for the resolution of the Kashmir conflict, but since the 2003 despite declarations by both nations, the situation on the ground has not changed. Undoubtedly there have been also excesses from the militant side. Yet despite the admission of military officials that there are 1,400 militants active in Kashmir (General Officer Commanding 15 Corps SS Dhilon, 15 July 2006) the presence of the armed forces remains monumental, the powers given to the army undiminished, and human rights violations continue unabated on a day to day basis. The reason for the disproportionate presence of the army is to control the citizenry. 


Under these circumstances, what is the role of civil society activists? Have they to remain silent, mute spectators, to the suppression and oppression of their countrymen? It is said that while the role of the civil society normally is to provide a medium between the people and the state, and in the circumstances of the people’s suppression and oppression at the hands of the state its role is to resist it. People must rise beyond their personal and professional interests, stand up and say: This is not acceptable.


The civil society in conflict areas cannot do this alone. In the era of globalization, they must become part of the global civil society, as has been our effort. We have made the issue of the 8 to 10,000 disappearances in the Valley part of a global campaign by launching the Asian Federation Against Involuntary or Enforced Disappearances in 1998 in Manila. In order to create space for civil society in Kashmir, we have built alliances with the European civil society groups as well, particularly the Inter-Church Peace Council (IKV) Holland, and Lawyers Without Borders (Dutch Section). Their support has been very valuable for us. 


Peace, freedom and justice cannot be the monopoly of politicians. The current civil society initiative is imperative for protecting civil rights, demanding accountability and creating democratic institutions. We are committed to fight against the injustices of the state and the non-state actors that are against dissent and internationally recognized human rights. In our endeavors, we are further encouraged by this award. I conclude with the words of Nikloi Ostrovosky: “Man’s dearest possession is his life. Life is given to every one but once and he must live it so as to feel no regret for the wasted years, no shame for a low and pity past, live so as to be able to say at his death that all my life and strength I gave for the finest cause of the world—the liberation of mankind”. 

Thank you Mr. President

JKCCS SIGNATURE CAMPAIGN TO MOBILISE SUPPORT FOR AFZAL GURU

On October 2, 2006, Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS) invited prominent persons from the cross section of the society for a meeting over Afzal Guru’s death penalty. It was decided that JKCCS would launch a signature campaign in order to mobilize public support to ensure a fair trial to Mohammad Afzal Guru who has been convicted in the parliament attack case and is going to be hanged till death on Friday, October 20. Keeping in view the international humanitarian standards, the members opined that Afzal Guru’s trail was not according to the standards laid out for fair trial. In his case the confession that was basis of his conviction in trial court was rejected by the Supreme Court of India and according to the evidence produced by the State, he was accused as a facilitator and not directly involved in the attack. Thereby, the death penalty is disproportionate even according to the Indian Supreme Court’s different judgments and the case doesn’t even fall under the “rarest of rare” cases in which the Supreme Court of India has observed death penalty should be awarded. The trial was completely influenced by the propagandist Indian media, which had pronounced its verdict even before the trial had actually begun. Kashmiris perceive the death sentence to Afzal Guru as an act of appeasement to the jingoistic pride of India. Also the timing and date fixed by the court seems to be motivated. 

Speaking on this occasion, Yasin Guru, cousin of Mohammad Afzal Guru appealed all people, irrespective of race or religion, to come forward to defend Guru, who according to him did not get a fair trial. 

 
Yasin, who has been following the case right from the beginning, said, ”Afzal was never given a fair chance to be heard. He was not provided the services of a lawyer when his trial started, which even according to the International Law, need to be provided. Unfortunately after parliament attack case, media started calling shots and dictated its own terms and orders. Media held him responsible even before the court had finally come out with its final verdict. He was even forced to give interview before media wherein he confessed that he was involved in the attack, but that was all manipulated. In the trial court he had no lawyer, Neeraj Bhansal, who was an incompetent lawyer, pleaded his case. He never used to attend the case of his client on regular basis. His services were provided to him just to show to the outside world that he was a given a chance of being heard. But the fact is that Guru had no one to defend. Then, Collin Gonsalves was his lawyer. I do not doubt him being fair but he was not more concerned with the case. Afzal never got a chance to defend himself, it is as simple as that. Finally, trial went to the Apex Court where Sushil Kumar was his lawyer. He was helpless in a situation where the case was already weak at its initial stage. It has been made a political issue now and I make an appeal don’t make it a politically motivated issue. I appeal to the entire community to come forward to defend Guru. It is the right time to raise the voice otherwise it will be too late". 

Speaking on the occasion Parvez Imroz, President JK CCS said, “The awarding death sentence is barbaric. With time more and more countries have started abolishing capital punishment. Guru was never given a chance of fair trial and he was not allowed to hire a counsel of his own choice. The fact is that government as well as judiciary itself accepts that Guru was just a facilitator in the entire episode and he offered logistic support to the people who carried out the action. The punishment meted out to him is deplorable and the death penalty, which has been awarded to him, is irreversible. It is important that civil society activists along with doctors, lawyers, intellectuals and students wake up to the issue and take part in a whole hearted manner so that the campaign is successful in seeking a fair trial for Guru. We are expecting support from the international community and wished that they too would support them whole-heartedly. Since the death penalty is irreversible our demand is that a fair trial is given to Guru and that should be under the natural principles of equality and justice. This is an opportunity to raise our revolt against the ill treatment meted out to a person who has been convicted of a guilt, which he did not commit. Prominent personalities and students would sign the signature forms and others would follow it. Death sentence awarded to Guru shows the dual policy on side of Government of India as on one side they claims to be the champion of democracy and on the other it is trampling the democratic ideals while awarding a death penalty to an innocent person. There was no direct witness to the whole incident and thus awarding death penalty to Guru is totally uncalled for”. 

Speaking on this occasion noted pediatrician and civil society activist, Dr. Altaf Hussain said, “Awarding death sentence to Afzal Guru is rarest of rare cases and that he was convicted just on guess work without the application of proper method. The evidence of the case suggests that Guru is not involved in the incident and that he is paying for the sins which he has not committed. The day chosen to hang Guru is Jumatul Vida (last Friday of Ramadhan) and there are people in the home ministry at New Delhi who know about the importance of this day. The need of the hour is that there should be a total endorsement of the signature campaign and if we fail in that we cannot claim to be the civil society activists".

Dr. Rafi Punjabi, civil society activist told, “In the past we have been seeing that people have been convicted in false cases and same has happened with Mohammad Afzal Guru. We should not seek clemency for Guru since clemency is sought for a person who has something wrong. He has done nothing wrong and therefore, we should not seek mercy for anyone so that his life is saved".

Professor Noor Baba, Head of Department, Political Science, University of Kashmir expressed, “It is essential that the Indian judicial system is exposed since it has convicted a person without any concrete evidence. The trial in this case has not gone in tune with the internationally acclaimed principles of humanitarian law. At this time we can put pressure on the people who matter by saying that the judiciary has failed in delivering justice. This also is the time for exhibiting our sentiments since Guru represents the sentiments of Kashmiris. We should take every step in ensuring that the truth comes out crystal clear".

Kashmiri poet and writer, Zareef Ahmad Zareef said, "The need of the hour is that human rights groups working across the globe take a note of the same and they should raise a voice against the same. The movement is heading in the right direction. Thousands of people have sacrificed their lives and their sacrifices would not go waste". 

Speaking on this occasion, veteran advocate Ghulam Nabi Hagroo said, “The case of Afzal Guru is politically motivated and it is equivalent to making a mountain out of a mole hill. The Indian judicial system is full of flaws and it is here that a dreaded dacoit like Phoolan Devi becomes a Member of Parliament after being exonerated of all the cases relating to murder. Similarly, it is this system, which gives a clean chit to Kalyan Singh even if there are enough evidences to prove his involvement in the demolition of Babri Masjid. In such a scenario how can we expect that a Kashmiri would be given a fair chance of defending himself and proving his innocence”.

Mohammad Ashraf, general secretary, Bar Association said that the Indian judicial system works on the dictates of the Government of India.

Khurram Parvez, coordinator JKCCS said, “More and more people should put their signatures on the forms so that the entire process is turned into a movement. He added that the signatures along with the responses, which may be in form of e-mails as well as letters, would be sent to the President of India, Dr. A. P. J. Abdul Kalam so that a chance of fair trial is given to Afzal Guru. We have already received some responses from the people living in foreign countries and we expect that more and more responses would be received in the coming days. The campaign would be started from the educational institutions and later more and more people would be involved".

 On 10th October (anti-death penalty day), JKCCS released the 15620 signatures collected through the week - long campaign at a press conference held at a local hotel in Srinagar. JKCCS is going to submit these signatures to Mr. Philip Alstol, the UN Special Rapporteur on Extra judicial and Summary or Arbitrary executions. Besides, the signatures will be sent to different international human rights organizations like Amnesty International, FIACAT, FIDH, LDH and SNUIPP for their indulgence. 

Below we are publishing the letter of Afzal Guru in which he has given full account of his involvement in the Parliament attack case. It is learned that the Special Operations Group of the Jammu and Kashmir police pressurized the family after the allegations made in the letter.
Mohammad Afzal’s Letter to his Lawyer,

Sushil Kumar, Sr. Advocate, Supreme Court

Respected Shri Sushil Kumar;

Hello 

(I)

I am extremely thankful and feel very much obligated to you that you have taken up my case and decided to defend me. From the beginning of this case I was neglected and had never been given a chance to reveal the truth before media or in court. The designated court did not provided me the lawyer inspite of giving three applications. In the high court one human rights lawyer asked the court that Afzal had expressed his desire that he want to be killed by toxic injection rather by hanging which is absolutely false. I never told this to my lawyer. Since that lawyer was not of my own choice (or my family) but it was due to my helplessness and nonaccessibility to proper lawyer. Being locked up in high security jail and without being in communication with that human rights lawyer I could not change him or to convey my objection regarding my death desire to High Court as I came to know this after high court’s decision.


In the parliament attack case I was entrapped by Special Task Force of Kashmir. Here in Delhi the designated court sentenced me to death on the basis of special police version which workes in nexus with STF, and also came under the influence of mass media in which I was made to accept the crime under duress and threat by special police A.C.P. Rajbir Singh. That threat even get confirmed to designated court by T.V. interviewer (Shams Tahir Aaj-Tak). When I was arrested in Srinagar bus stand I was taken to STF Headquarter from here the special police along with STF brought me to Delhi. In Srinagar at Parompora Police Station everything of my belongings was seized and then they beated me and threatened me of dire consequences regarding my wife and family if I reveal or disclose the reality before anybody. Even my younger brother Hilal Ahmad Guru he was taken into police custody without any warrant etc. and was kept there for 2-3 months. This was first told to me by A.C.P. Rajbir Singh. Special police told me that if I will speak according to their wishes they will not harm my family members and also gave me false assurance that they will make my case weak so that after sometime I will get released. The most important priority I gave to safety of my family. As I know from last seven years how the STF men kill, the Kashmiris, how they had made youth invisible and had disappeared them while killing them in custody. I am living and organic eye-witness to various tortures and custodial killings and I am myself the victim of STF terror and torture. Being an surrendered militant of JKLF. I was constantly harassed, threatened and agonized by various security agencies like Army. B.S.F. and S.T. F., But since S.T.F. is unorganized, without being accountable a band and gang of renegades patronised by state government. They intrude every house, every family everywhere in Kashmir anytime day or night. If anybody is picked up by STF and his family came to know this, then family members only wait to get his dead body which they hope. But usually they never came to know his whereabouts. 6000 youthes have disappeared. Under these circumstances and under this fearful environment persons like me are always ready to play any dirty game in the hands of S.T.F. Just for the survival. The people who are able to pay in terms of cash are not forced to do the diryt things the way I did as I was not able to pay. Even one of the policeman of the same police station of Parimpora named Akbar had extorted 5000 Rs. Long brfore attack and threatened me that he will charge me as selling duplicate medicines and surgical items of which I was doing business at Sopore, in 2000. He came here in designated court and became a witness against me. He was knowing me before parliament attack. In the court room he told me in Kashmiri that my family is o.k. indirectly it was a hidden threat which the designated court hardly could realize otherwise in court I would have questioned him but before court tarted recording his statement he told me this. Throughout the trial I remained mute and helpless spectator as witnesses, police and even judge they all became a single force against me. I remained a frustrate bewildered and confused between the security and safety of myself and my family. I protected and saved my family. That is how I am lying in deathrow. 

II. 

In 1997-98 I started a business of medicines and surgical instruments on commission basis as I could not get a govt. job due to the reason of being an surrendered militant. Because surrendered militants were not given jobs. They were either to work as SPOs or STF or to join the renegades under the patronage of security forces or police. Everyday SPOs were get killed by militants. In these conditions I started my commission based business earning 4000Rs. – 5000Rs. per month. But since the police informers (SPOs) usually harass those surrendered militants who do not work with S.T.F. etc. From 98-2000 I usually used to pay 300Rs. sometimes 500 Rs. to local SPO so as to keep myself in business otherwise these SPO make us to present us before security agencies. Even one of the SPO one day told me that they too have to pay their bosses. As I was working hard in my business my business flourished. One day at 10 AM I was on my Two wheeler scooter that I had purchased just before two months. I was whisked away by STF men in bullet proof gypsy to Palhallan camp. There the D.S.P. Vinay Gupta tortured me, electrified me—put me in cold water – used petrol—chillies and other techniques. He told me that I possess weapons but at evening time one of his inspector Farooq told me that if I can pay 1000,000 Rs. to him (D.S.P) I will be released or they will kill me. Then they took me to Humhama STF camp where D.S.P. Dravinder Singh also tortured me. One of his torture inspector as they called him Shanty Singh electrified me naked for 3 hours and made me drink water while giving electric shocks through telephone instrument. Ultimately I accepted to pay them 1000000Rs. for which my family sold the gold of my wife. Even after this they could manage only 80000 Rs. Then they took the scooter too which was just 2-3 months old which I bought for 24000Rs. Thus after getting 1lakh rupees they let me free. But now I was a broken person. In the same Humhama STF camp there was one more victim named Tariq. He suggested me that I should always co-operate with STF otherwise they will always harass and will not let me to live normal—free life. This was a turning point of my life . I decided to live the way Tariq told me. Since from 1990-1996 I had studied in Delhi University I was also giving tuitions in different coaching centres and also home tuitions.

This fact reached to the man named Altaf Hussain who is brotherin-law of S.S.P. Ashaq Hussain of Budgam. Since it was this Altaf Hussain who managed my family rather he became the broker between my family and D.S.P. Humhama Dravinder Singh. Altaf told me that I should teach his two children one on 12th , 2nd [second one] in 10th class as his children were not able to go outside for tuition due to militant threat. Thus I became very close to Altaf’s and Altaf also. One day Altaf took me to Dravinder Singh (D.S.P.). D.S. told me that I had to do a small job for him that has to took one man to delhi as I was well aware about Delhi and has to manage a rented house for him. Since I was not knowing the man but I suspected that this man is not Kashmiri as he did not speak in Kashmiri but I was helpless to do what Dravinder told me. I took him to Delhi. One day he told me that he want to purchase a car.


Thus I went with him to Karol Bagh. He purchased the car. Then in Delhi he used to meet different persons and both of us he Mohammad and me used to get the different phone calls from Dravinder Singh. One day Mohammad told me that if he want to go back to Kashmir he can. He also gave me 35000Rs. and told me that this gift is for you. 6 days or 8 days before I took a rented room at Indra Vihar for my family as I decided to live in Delhi with my family because I was not satisfied with my this life. I left the keys of rented house to my landlady and told her that I will be back after Eid festival on 14th Dec. after parliament attack about which there was a lot of tension. I contacted Tariq in Sgr. [Srinagar].


At evening he told me when I came back from Delhi. I replied just one hour before. Next morning when I was about to leave to Sopore from bus stand Sgr. police caught me and took me to Parampora police station. Tariq was there also with STF. They took 35000 Rs. from my pocket, beated me and directly took me STF Head Quarter. From there I was taken to Delhi. My eyes were blind folded. Here I found myself in special police torture cell.


In special cell custody I told them everything regarding Mohammad etc. but they told me that I Showkat his wife Navjot (Afshan) Geelani are the people behind parliament attack. They too threatened me regarding my family and one of the inspector told me that my younger brother Hilal Ahmad Guru is in STF custody. They can lift the other family members too if I don’t co-operate with them. They tried me and forced me to implicate Showkat his wife and Geelani but I did not yield. I told them this is not possible. Then they told me that I should not say anything about Geelani (be about his innocence). After some days I was presented before media handcuffed. There were NDTV, Aaj tak, Zee news, Sahara TV etc. Rajbeer Singh (A.C.P.) was also there. When one of the interviewer Shams tahir told me what is the role of Geelani in parliament attack, I just said that Geelani is innocent. This moment A.C.P. Rajbeer Singh got up from his moving chair he shouted at me and told me that he had already said me not to speak about Geelani in front of everybody (Media-personnel). 


Rajbeer Singh’s behaviour exposed my helplessness and media personnel atleast came to know that what Afzal is saying under threat or duress. Then Rajbir Singh (A.C.P.) requested T.V. personel that the question regarding Geelani should be washed away or not to be shown before public. At evening time Rajbir Singh told me that if I want to talk [to] my family. I replied in yes. Then I talked to my wife. After finishing my phone he told me if I want to see my wife & family alive I must cooperate [with] them at every step. They took me to various places in delhi. From where they showed that Mohammad had purchased different things. They took me to Kashmir from where we came back without doing anything. They made me to sign on atleast 200-300 blank pages.


I was never given an [a] chance in [the] designated court to tell the real story. The judge told me that I will be given full opportunity to speak at the end of case but at the end he even did not recorded my all statements neither the court gave me whatever even court recorded. If phone numbers recorded will be seen carefully the court would have come to know the phone numbers of STF.


Now I hope that the Supreme Court will consider my helplessness and the reality through which I had passed. STF made an [a] scapegoat in all this criminal act which was designed and directed by STF and others which I don’t know. Special Police is definitely the part of this game because every time they forced me to remain silent. I hope my forced silence will be heard and justice will prevail.


I once again pay heart felt thanks to your good self for defending my case. May truth prevail!

(Sd)

Mohammad Afzal S/O Habibullah Guru

Ward No. 6 (High Security Ward)

Jail No. 1, Tihar - New Delhi 110064

DENTAL SURGEON BEHEADED IN BROAD DAYLIGHT 

Srinagar, October 8: Suspected militants kidnapped and mercilessly slaughtered a young dental surgeon within 24 hours of beheading a Territorial Army recruit in the apple-rich north Kashmir township. Militants allegedly slit the throat of the young dental surgeon and father of three kids with seven shaving blades in broad daylight after subjecting him to untold brutality for about two hours.
 
Reports said that the local Police Station responded to a report and recovered the dead body of 35-year-old Dr. Mushtaq Ahmed Shah son of Masoom Shah, resident of Zachaldara (presently Braripora, Handwara) from cornfields in Nopora Kalan locality of the apple town of Sopore in the morning today. Suspected militants, armed with AK-47 guns and pistols, had tied the surgeon in captivity to a tree and mercilessly tortured him for about two hours from 2.00 p.m to 4.00 pm. According to the reports, some people working at the nearby fields had approached the militants with an appeal of mercy after hearing the shrieks and screaming of the dental surgeon but the militants shouted them to retreat. They finally slaughtered the doctor with sharp shaving blades.
 
Police confirmed that seven blood soaked shaving blades were recovered from the site of occurrence. According to them, the surgeon had been almost decapitated and his head was attached to the torso with just an inch of skin. They said that a note, purportedly scribbled by a militant outfit, was also found on the dead body.

On October 9, the car of slain dental surgeon s was set on fire allegedly by militants near Sopore police station. 

IMAM SHOT AT 

Srinagar, October 20: Shooting of an Imam (one who leads the prayers in mosque) allegedly by a CRPF trooper at Rajbagh here in the wee hours triggered violent demonstrations. 

Residents staged massive protests and fought pitched battle with police since morning, demanding action against a soldier of the CRPF’s 123 battalion who they alleged shot at the imam, Muhammad Altaf Shah son of Peer Muhammad Yousuf of Heewan Baramulla, wounding him critically. 

Altaf, a student of Islamic University of Science and Technology Awantipora, is undergoing treatment at Intensive Care Unit of SMHS Hospital here. 

 “At 1.45 am somebody knocked at the door of my room in the Usmania mosque. ‘Darwaza kholo Main Policewala Hoon Mujhe Masjid Ki Talashi Karni Hai (Open the door, I am a cop and have to search the mosque)’ a man shouted,” Altaf told. 

“As soon as I opened the door, a masked man wearing CRPF uniform opened fire on me and I fell down” he said. 

 Visibly in trauma, Altaf’s wife Afaira Rasool said, “I heard a gun shot and saw blood oozing out of my husband’s chest and immediately closed the door.” 

“The assailant who shot at Altaf was wearing ‘Khahki uniform’ and ironically stood outside the door till Sehri. It seems he wanted to ensure Altaf’s death. I plugged his wounds with cloth to stop the blood flow and hide my four-month-old son and brother under bed,” she said. 

“It was a horrible experience as the gunman kept kicking the door,” she recalled. 

“Few weeks ago, some CRPF soldiers from the nearby post approached me and asked to keep loudspeakers of the mosque during prayers off as it disturbed them. However, I refused,” said Altaf. 

“Since that day soldiers from the camp kept harassing me. Once a soldier told me the camp had received a letter in which it was stated that I was a militant. They wanted to frame me,” he said, adding “Now I was nearly killed by them.” 

Sheikh Ghulam Muhammad, president of the Masjid Committee, said “I had advised Altaf to lodge a complaint with police against the soldiers for harassment. However, he refused, fearing reprisal.” 

“He is the imam of our mosque for the past two years and lives with his family in a room of the mosque complex. We never received any complaints against him,” he said. 

When people visited the mosque after Sehri, they saw the imam lying in a pool of blood and shifted him to hospital. Soon the news spread and hundreds of people assembled outside the mosque and staged demonstrations. 

Shouting anti-CRPF slogans, they took out a procession. However, a large contingent of police reached there and fired dozens of canister shells. 

People offered stiff resistance and pelted stones on police. In the pitched battle a cop was wounded. Police fired several rounds in air and cane-charged the protesters forcing them to disperse. 

“The CRPF post is located just outside the mosque. It’s now clear that Moulvi Sahib was shot at by one of the soldiers from the post as the soldier didn’t escape after committing the crime,” the protesters argued. 

“The soldiers from the CRPF camp harass the residents and pass indecent remarks on females. They block the road by electrified barbered wires and recently a cow was electrocuted after it came in contact with it,” the protesters said. 

A spokesman of the CRPF refuted the allegations. “Our men did not step out of the camp.” 

However, when told about the statement of imam’s wife that the assailant was on the spot for over two hours, the PRO expressed surprise. “Maybe, they (CRPF soldiers) did not hear the gunshot,” he added. 

Interestingly, a steel bunker of CRPF is located at the entrance of the mosque. 

Superintendent of Police (SP) South Uttam Chand told, “We have recorded the statement of the victim and eyewitness. The bullet which had pierced through the body of the imam was recovered from a concrete wall. We could not ascertain from which rifle the bullet was fired as it was completely crushed. Now it has been sent for forensic examination”.

However, a Jammu based newspaper quoting doctors at SMHS Hospital reported on Saturday that the bullet that pierced the Imam was fired from a SLR gun, the rifle used by the paramilitary troopers. 


SOLDIERS OPEN FIRE INJURE 2 CHILDREN
October 1: Two children were injured when soldiers mistook them as militants and fired at them in Bandipore area of north Kashmir’s Baramulla district on Sunday (October 1) evening. 

 
Reports said that soldiers fired upon two children identified as Asmat Ara daughter of Abdul Hamid and Samander Khan son of Abdul Kabir at Bazipora, Bandipore, injuring them critically. They were hospitalized. 

 
However, police said the duo was injured “when militants hurled a grenade towards a patrolling party at Bazipora Ajas, which was followed by firing”. Police said a soldier also sustained injuries in the incident. 

MAN SHOT AT 
October 11: Residents of Shopian township in south Kashmir took to streets to express their resentment against shooting of a man by the personnel of Special Operations Group of Police. Police however says the civilian was injured in “cross firing.” 

 
Reports said a party of SOG accompanied by paramilitary CRPF troopers raided the house of Muhammad Ishaq Haji son of Sanaullah at Haf Shirmal Zainapora in Shopian on Tuesday (October 10) evening and dragged Ishaq out of the house. 
 
Ishaq was beaten to pulp by the SOG men; reports said. However, his family members raised an alarm and tried to intervene which infuriated the SOG men. Before fleeing the spot, they fired upon Ishaq, injuring him critically. Ishaq was rushed to SKIMS for treatment. 

 
On October 11 morning, hundreds of people took to roads, raising slogans against the SOG and demanded stern action against the SOG personnel, who have unleashed a reign of terror in the area. 

 
A police spokesman however denied the allegations saying that Ishaq was injured in a fire exchange between militants and the security forces. 

POLICE WANTS CENTRE’S SANCTION AGAINST CRPF
MURDER OF MUSICIAN
October 17: Jammu and Kashmir police has sought sanction from the Central Government versus Armed Forces (Special) Powers Act (AFSPA). Police wants the Centre’s sanction before filing charge sheet against paramilitary Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) troops who shot dead a partially crippled musician at Munawarabad here nearly five months ago. 

 
Inayatullah Bhat, 30, was killed by the personnel of CRPF’s 46 battalion stationed at Hotel Ikhwan on May 30 evening, triggering violent demonstrations in the city for many days. 

“We can’t take direct action against the accused CRPF man as he is neither from our state nor our cop. We have to approach his Directorate in the Centre before filing charge sheet against him,” Senior Superintendent of Police, Afadul Mujtaba told. 

“After completion of some formalities, the case will be forwarded for sanction and once we receive it, action will be taken according to law,” the SSP said. 

Under the Armed Forces Special Powers Act (AFSPA) of 1958, the soldiers enjoy “unrestricted and unaccounted power” to carry out their operation in disturbed areas like Kashmir. By virtue of the act even a non-commissioned officer is authorized to shoot anyone on mere suspicion “in order to maintain the public order.” 

According to Section 6 of the AFSPA, no legal proceeding can be brought against any member of the armed forces acting under the AFSPA, without the permission of the Central government thus denying justice to the victims. 

In the musician’s murder, the delay in filing of the charge sheet has enabled the accused CRPF man to secure a bail. However, the deceased’s family alleges the state government was trying to hush up the case. 

“Despite eyewitness accounts, circumstantial evidence and confession statements of the accused CRPF soldier, police has failed to get sanction from Indian government against the accused,” Inayat’s father, Rehmatullah Bhat told. 

“It was due to protests and public pressure that police arrested the soldier. But later police went slow because the Indian government doesn’t want to punish its soldiers,” Rehmatullah said, adding, “The Indians don’t want to demoralize their men fighting against Kashmiris.” 

 “I want justice…I can’t see the killers of my son roaming scot-free. I will fight till I get justice,” he added. 

Inayat’s killing had triggered massive demonstrations and violent clashes with people attacking police and CRPF bunkers. Nearly 25 persons, including 10 cops were injured in the clashes. 

Police registered a case (FIR No. 56/2006 under section 307), which was changed to Section 302 after Inayat succumbed to his injuries in a hospital. 

Though CRPF never publicly admitted that their soldiers were arrested, one of the accused soldiers admitted his crime before police and Inayat’s family in police-lock up. The CRPF initiated departmental probe into the killing, which has not been completed yet.

TROOPS HARASS GIRL, BEAT HER FATHER

Chrar-i-Sharief, October 27: Hundreds of people Friday demonstrated against the troops of 53 Rashtriya Rifles of army accusing them of harassing a girl and later beating her father when he complained before the army officers. 

 
On October 26 troops of 53 RR reportedly harassed 11-year girl (name withheld) when she went to fetch milk near Zinpachal village here. The girl rushed back to her house and related whole story to her father Abdul Hamid. The father approached the concerned camp and there an official gave him an assurance that he will investigate the matter and take action against the erring soldiers.

 
But in the evening the accused troops barged into house of Hamid and according to eyewitnesses beat him up ruthlessly. 
 
“He was severely thrashed by troops who were angry at him, as he had complained before their officers,” said an eyewitness, wishing anonymity for fear of reprisal by army. 

 
The injured Hamid was rushed to Chrar-i-Sharief Hospital when the troops left the place. In the hospital today, the doctors advised that Hamid to undergo X-ray in a private diagnostic centre as X-ray machine in the hospital was not functioning. 
The relatives then decided to shift him to Srinagar Hospital. However, they were stopped by troops of Nowgam camp. The troops, relatives said, told them that X-ray could be done at a private clinic and they offered help. But the relatives resisted and were adamant to shift Hamid to Srinagar Hospital. The troops then offered them Rs 10,000 and asked them “finish the matter here”, the relatives said. However, the relatives didn’t budge. The troops called more troops and forced the relatives to return to the village. The incident evoked strong protest in Zinpanchal and adjacent areas with people accusing troops of harassment. 

 
Later the SHO and SP concerned visited the area promising action against the troops.

SHALIMAR WIDOW’S WAILS LOST IN EID BUSTLE
Srinagar, October 22: Away from the maddening rush in the Srinagar city bustling with Eid shoppers, Sara, 45, a widow and her three daughters sit silently near the debris of their house in Shalimar area, on the city outskirts. 

The house was damaged in a gunfight on Friday (October 20). Two militants hiding in a nearby house were killed in the daylong joint operation of Special Operation Group of Police and CRPF personnel. 

 
“We’ve lost everything,” Sara rued as she broke down. Her daughters Fancy, Afroza and Saima tried unsuccessfully to console her. “How can I rebuild the house? We have no male members. My only source of income is mere Rs 2,000, pension of my husband,” she said. 

“My mother is diabetic and the pension money ends in purchase of expensive medicine for her,” Fancy said. “We’d recently purchased blankets and furnishing from years of savings. We are on roads now.” 

Sara’s modest house was of mud and wood. Its second floor was gutted in the encounter, which took place in the house of her neighbor. And the water pumped to douse the fire, caused more damage to the mud house. 

“Few days ago, I put some of the valuables and furnishings in the second storey to clean the house for Eid. But destiny had something else in store for me,” she said. 

However, Sara’s daughter Fancy blames the CRPF troops for the destruction. “Our house is 10 feet away from the house where the encounter took place. We fail to understand how it caught fire as holed up militants were engaged in encounter from other direction,” she said. 

“The troops locked us, including a new born baby of my cousin in a room and broke open the safe and cupboard of other rooms. Hearing our cries, some cops from local police rushed into the house and rescued us, otherwise we might have been killed due to fear and suffocation,” she said. 

Fancy’s elder sister Afroza said, “I begged to the CRPF soldiers to release my sisters and mother but they did not pay any heed. We owe our lives to JK Police.” 

Her aged aunt, Jana was still searching for the ornaments and money, which she said she had been saving for years together. “I had kept nearly Rs 10,000 and earrings in the cupboard. Locks are broken and everything is missing,” she lamented. 

Soon after the encounter was over, the family says it rushed to Inspector General of Police (IGP) on the spot for investigation and compensation. “He assured us to look into the matter. Two days have passed but we are still awaiting help,” Afroza said. 

Sara’s neighbor Mehbooba was collecting used cartridges fired during the encounter. “This is what the troops fired on my house and damaged the windowpanes, roof and other valuables,” she said, accusing troops of looting of money and ornaments during the operation. 

The local residents questioned the rationale for using ‘extensive force’ to kill the two militants. “The holed up militants had less quantity of arms and ammunition with them as they fired after long intervals. But troop’s sprinkled gunpowder and fired mortar shells on the house, damaging it and its adjoining houses,” Abdur Rahman, a resident said.

SHRC INDICTS ARMY FOR TORTURE
Srinagar, October 10: The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has indicted army for torturing a civilian and later falsely claiming recovery of grenades from him. 

 
On February 21, 2003, one Ghulam Muhammad Wani of Chitroo Dangerpora (Budgam district) filed a compliant before the Commission stating that in 1998, 36 batallion of Army’s Rashtriya Rifles took him into custody and tortured him, crippling him for life. He said he had no link with any political or militant outfit, but still he was arrested and tortured in custody. 

 
The SHRC sought report from the Inspector General of Police Kashmir zone. The IGP in his report said the RR arrested Wani in a raid in Chadura area on specific information and recovered four grenades from him. The report said police has registered an FIR 16/98 under section 7/25 Arms Act against the complainant. 

 
However, the complainant filed rejoinder, refuting allegations of weapon recovery. He also filed a copy of judgment of Sessions Court Budgam in which the Court had acquitted him of the charges that army recovered weapons from him. 
The single bench of Justice MY Kawoosa, chairperson SHRC, said, “The judgment of sessions court is sufficient proof to believe that no recovery has been made from the complainant. So, defence of the police authority falls down.” 

 
The SHRC said there was clear breach of human rights in torturing the complainant in the interrogation centre. 
While disposing off the case, the SHRC recommended to the government to pay Rs 50,000 to the complainant within two months.

DOODIPORA PROBE SHELVED

Srinagar, October 9: The enquiry Commission constituted by government to investigate the killing of four boys allegedly by troops in Doodipora village of Kupwara district on February 22, on Monday put on hold the probe citing government indifference. 

“For want of staff and funds, it’s not possible to go ahead with the enquiry. Accordingly, further proceedings are put on hold till the staff or funds are made available,” said District and Sessions Judge, Syed T A Naqshbandi, who is heading the commission. 

Aged between 8 and 18, the four boys, according to eyewitnesses, were killed allegedly by soldiers of Army’s 33 Rashtriya Rifles when they were playing cricket in a field in Doodipora village of Handwara area. The Army denied it, and said militants were responsible for the killings. The killings sparked massive demonstrations across the Valley for many days, forcing the government to order a probe into it. 

ARMY CLEARING ITS MINES FROM NORTH KASHMIR AREAS: GOC

Manasbal, October 10: Army is clearing mines it had planted in a graveyard in Nagri village of Kupwara district and other areas of North Kashmir, said Lt. Gen. A. K. Singh, the General Officer Commanding (GoC) of Kilo Force. 

 
Last year villagers wrote a letter to Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad requesting him to persuade Army to vacate the graveyard and the local hospital which is under Army’s occupation for the past 13 years. The villagers had said that Army had constructed bunkers on the graveyard and was not allowing people to visit the graves of their dead kin for rituals. They had said the Army had mined the entire area around the graveyard. 

The GoC said army was removing mines planted in interior parts of the district for “security reasons.” He said mines were planted on tracks used by militants. 

Earlier Army had removed mines it had planted in orchards and in residential areas of Gushi village in Kupwara after a local newspaper published a report on the problems faced by the villagers. 

POLICE THRASHES 2 LAWYERS
Srinagar, October 3: The police personnel of Batamaloo police station allegedly beat up two lawyers when they went to the police to file a complaint, a charge denied by cops. 

 
Lawyers said a man barged into the house of advocate Qasier Ahmad and advocate Zahoor Ahmad and took away some valuables. Both the advocates, after hearing about the incident, rushed to police station Batamaloo to file a compliant. But, police refused to file the compliant, lawyers alleged. 

 
“The refusal of police forced the advocates to disclose their identity and once police came to know they are lawyers they were severely thrashed and kept in lockup,” a senior lawyer said. 

 
He said “in the lockup police hurled abuses on them.” They were released at 9 pm. 

 
The High Court Bar Association (HCBA) has strongly reacted to the incident and said it will take legal action against the concerned SHO. “Imagine fate of common Kashmiris fate in police stations where lawyers are beaten and kept in unlawful detention,” said the HCBA, promising that it will take appropriate action. 

 
However, police denied the charges. 
MASSIVE PROTESTS, SHUTDOWN AGAINST TROOPS
Baramulla, October 7: A spontaneous shutdown marked by massive protests against the alleged excesses by troops crippled life in Baramulla town. 

 
Thousands of people took to streets to protest alleged harassment and beating of civilians by troops of 46 Rashtriya Rifles at Jalal Sahib Mohalla here. They said the troops thrashed several youth in the Mohalla when they were coming out of a mosque after offering prayers last evening. 

 
Chanting anti-Army, anti-India and pro-freedom slogans, the protesters marched through old Baramulla town. The protesters were led by Mufti Abdur Rahman. “The soldiers thrashed civilians without any reason. We find it very difficult to offer late night prayers in mosques,” the Mufti said. 

 
“Harassment of the people particularly during the ongoing holy month of Ramadan is a direct interference in our religion which can’t be tolerated,” he said. 

 
Muezzin (a man who calls Muslims to prayer) of Jalal Sahib Masjid said: “I was thrashed by the troops yesterday when I came out of the Masjid. They were telling me ‘you are a Jaish-e-Muhammad militant’. ”

Additional Superintendent of Police Baramulla, Junaid Ahmad told that police has taken up the matter with the Commanding Officer of 46 RR.
VILLAGERS TERRORIZED

Aloosa (Bandipora), October 9: The residents of Aloosa, Astengoo, Malangam, and Kuloosa villages of Bandipora area in Baramulla district have accused 15 Rashtriya Rifles of Army of shielding a government gunman and two informers who “threaten and harass the villagers, interfere in their domestic affairs and extort money.

 
”Army denies that the trio is working for them. However, police says the three men are working for different security agencies, not the 15 RR alone. 

 
The accused men are Meraj-ud-Din, Hamid Dar and Bashir Bhat the dreaded government gunman, all residents of Bandipora. 
The villagers said that recently when they protested against the searches conducted by the 15 RR in the house of grand Imam of the area, the accused trio warned them of dire consequences. 

 
“They told us ‘if you will protest, be ready to face the wrath; you know our power and all of you would be booked in fake cases’. They have made our lives hell; they interfere in family matters and out of fear we have to accept their decisions. They run a parallel government here,” said an aged villager. 

 
A man in the Kuloosa village said, “They have extorted thousands of rupees from villagers. Some months back they told me ‘RR soldiers were searching for you; shell out Rs 30,000 we would save you’. I gave them 19000”. 

The residents of these villages particularly the Aloosa village said the gunmen knock at doors of homes during nights. They said soldiers in civvies accompany them. 

 
The residents allege that police never comes to their rescue despite knowing “about the misdeeds of these men.” 
“They know all the facts; we can’t file complaints against these men because they would come to know who filed the complaint and he won’t be spared then,” a shopkeeper in Aloosa told. 

 
A middle-rung police officer in Bandipora told, “We will look into the matter. We have not received any complaint against them yet. They are working for different security agencies, not for 15 RR only.

 
”The Commanding Officer of 15 RR told, “the trio is not working for us. If they are committing wrongs in our name, people should inform us. Why don’t people hand them over to police?” 

IKHWANI HARASSING FAMILY 
October 17: An Ikhwani (renegade) associated with the Budgam Army camp has been allegedly pressurizing the father of a woman to hand over to him his daughter for a night or face the consequences, reports said. 

 
Reports said that a woman of Chitro Dangerporah-Budgam, who is living with her father after the death of her husband, is being harassed by an Ikhwani, Nazir Ahmad alias Nazir Pohul associated with the Budgam camp. The woman's father, Ghulam Hassan Sheikh, has alleged that Nazir has been issuing threats to him that if he did not hand over his daughter to him.

DEMONSTRATIONS AT CHATROO VILLAGE
Kishtwar, October 1: People demonstrated against police and army accusing them of firing at and critically wounding two young men in Chatroo area of Kishtwar. 

 
Sources said that Noor Hussain son of Mohammad Ibrahim and Nissar son of Sadir Sheikh were seriously injured when troopers of 11 RR and policemen fired at them in Pachal Chatroo area of Kishtwar Tehsil. 

 
The protesters said the two men were innocent civilians and were fired at without any provocation. However, the police said the young men were militants. Police claimed that one AK-47 rifle and one SLR were recovered from their possession. 

 
The protesters shouted slogans against the troops, police and the state government and demanded a stern action against them.

CRPF MEN ATTACK PRINTING PRESS
Srinagar, October 6: CRPF men attacked the printing press of local Urdu daily "The Afaaq" near Jamia Masjid in down town Srinagar. They ransacked it and beat the workers there and arrested an employee. 

The incident occurred during the protest demonstrations near Jamia Masjid. The CRPF personnel forcibly entered into the printing press and ransacked it. They beat the workers. An employee Abdul Majid was injured and was rushed to Bone and Joint hospital Barzulla.

Another employee Abdul Rashid was arrested and his whereabouts are not known.

SUMO DRIVERS OBSERVE STRIKE AGAINST ARMY

Islamabad (Anantnag), October 14: Sumo drivers in many parts of Islamabad district observed one-day protest strike against the Army accusing it of forcibly taking their vehicles on search operations, or traveling, without paying fare. The drivers were protesting against the ruthless beating of a Sumo driver by the troops of 49 Rashtriya Rifles in Verinag. 
Muzaffar Ahmad Naik of Halsidhar, the Sumo driver, was so ruthlessly beaten by a group of soldiers for refusing to ferry them that he has been admitted in Islamabad District Hospital, said Muhammad Amin the president of the Sumo Drivers Association. 
Barely able to speak on the hospital bed, Muzaffar Ahmad Naik said, “They stopped me yesterday and ordered the passengers to get down; I refused because they never pay the money. Then I was taken to the camp at Nowgam, Verinag where like beasts a number of them kicked me in the abdomen; I don’t remember how long they kicked me.” 

The Association leaders said Muzaffar Naik was also badly beaten 10 days back by the soldiers of the same camp when he refused them to give his Sumo for free. He was bed-ridden for six days, they said. 

“After beating me they bought me to the hospital. They said ‘if you don’t file a complaint with police we will give you Rs 1500 and some litres of petrol’,” Muzaffar told. 

However, police has filed a case against army on the basis of the statement given by Muzaffar. Muhammad Amin the president of the Sumo Drivers’ Association said army forces them to part with their vehicles whenever soldiers wish to and don’t pay the fares. They said the vehicles and lives of the drivers are exposed to dangers of gunfights and Improvised Explosive Devices when they are forcibly taken to counter-militancy operations.

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· INFILTRATION ON BUT SITUATION NORMAL: ARMY CHIEF
October 6: Chief of Army staff General J J Singh said there has been no decline in infiltration as compared to previous year but the situation in Jammu and Kashmir was returning towards normalcy. 

 
“Normalcy is returning day by day and there are less militancy-related incidents in comparison to previous year that too in interior terrain,” Singh told. 

· LOWEST CUSTODIAL DEATHS, DISAPPEARANCES IN 2006:CM
October 29: Chief Minister (CM) Ghulam Nabi Azad said during past one year there have been “lowest of all custodial deaths and disappearances” since the inception of militancy in the state in 1990.  

· ‘VIOLENCE DECLINES DURING AZAD'S TENURE’

New Delhi, October 29: Official figures show a 20 per cent decline in violent incidents since Ghulam Nabi Azad took over as the Chief Minister of J&K State.

 
Figures available with the Union home ministry also show that the killing of civilians and security personnel has fallen by 27 per cent during Azad's tenure.

 
Though political parties, including Azad's alliance partner PDP, have been critical of the state government's handling of human rights, the figures show only nine cases of rights abuses were reported this year.

 
These include the alleged custodial death of four persons, the disappearance of one person and alleged molestation of four women by security forces and police.

 
However, between November 2004 and October 23, 2005, six cases of alleged killing in custody, one disappearance in custody and 20 cases of women being allegedly molested and raped by security forces and police were recorded.

Apart from an increase in grenade attacks, there has been a decline in other violent incidents during his term, according to the official figures.

NEWS IN BRIEF
· JAWAN SHOOTS HIMSELF 
Jammu, October 1: An Army jawan allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself in an Army establishment at Gund under the jurisdiction of Banihal Police Station.
 
Police spokesman said that Naik Manapani of 17 Rashtriya Rifles entered the room of his colleague Manoj Kumar and took latter’s service rifle. In the presence of his colleague, Naik Manapani shot himself to death.

· ONE MORE JAWAN KILLS HIMSELF 
Reasi, October 6: An army jawan allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle inside the Uniformed Force Head Quarters at Reasi in Udhampur district this evening.

 
The deceased jawan has been identified as Arul Vishwanan (number 15778827) presently deployed with 51 Rashtriya Rifles. Police reports said that he shot himself with his service weapon (AK 47 Rifle).

· BSF CONSTABLE COMMITS SUICIDE
October 18: A Border Security Force (BSF) constable allegedly committed suicide by slitting his throat with the round wood cutting machine inside the workshop at BSF Frontier Headquarter Paloura this morning.

 
The deceased has been identified as constable Shaman Dutta of Delhi.

· CRPF MAN ENDS LIFE 
Srinagar, October 18: A CRPF jawan today ended his life by firing himself with his service rifle at Boni Dialgam, Anantnag.

 
Reports said th8at Ajit Kumar; constable 157 BN CRPF took out his service rifle and shot himself at the CRPF camp at Boni Dialgam. He was seriously injured and was immediately rushed to the hospital where he succumbed to his injuries.

· ARMY JAWAN KILLS 2, COMMITS SUICIDE

Jammu, October 23: An army jawan today went on a shooting spree with his service rifle, killing two of his colleagues before committing suicide at Budhal in Rajouri district this afternoon.

 
Police said that Naik Lingam of 60 Rashtriya Rifles (RR), while on ROP (Road Opening Party) duty at Kewal Budhal, shot dead his colleagues Sepoy Sunil Kumar and Sepoy Thakur with his service weapon this afternoon. The accused later committed suicide by shooting himself with the same weapon.

· SOLDIER SHOOTS HIMSELF

October 27: A soldier at the base headquarters in Poonch district shot himself using his service rifle. The deceased was identified as Sepoy T John  

· SOLDIER KILLS COLLEAGUE, INJURES ANOTHER

October 29:  A soldier shot dead his senior colleague and wounded another in Jammu, reports said. 

 
Defence spokesman told that soldier Satyam Kumar shot dead his senior colleague Havaldar Padma Rajan and wounded another soldier by firing from his service weapon while on duty following an altercation late last night at the Udhampur Military Garrison. 
· SOLDIER KILLS LT COLONEL 

October 31: A Lieutenant Colonel of Army’s Rashtriya Rifles was shot dead by a soldier at Harwan, in the outskirts of Srinagar. 
An Army spokesman said sepoy S C Behera of 28 RR opened fire at his company commander, Lt Col Saket Saxena, following an altercation over some matter at Dara, Harwan, 18 km from here, this morning. 

 
Colonel Saxena died on the spot, the spokesman said, adding the solider was overpowered by his colleagues and arrested. 
· 4 MEMBERS OF A FAMILY INJURED  
October 16: Suspected militants shot at four members of a family including two women after subjecting them to severe thrashing at village Banola in Mendhar tehsil of district Poonch.

 
Reports from Mendhar said that two masked ultras came to the house of Fazal Karim at Banola last evening at 2100 hours. They asked the women present in the house the reason of their visit to the nearby army camp on the previous day.

 
The women, reports said informed them that they had gone to the army camp for medical examination but the militants didn't believe them. They subjected both the women to thrashing using canes and batons and later opened indiscriminate firing on the inmates injuring them seriously.


The injured were shifted to the Sub District Hospital (SDH) Mendhar.
· MILITANTS KILL TWO BROTHERS 

Srinagar, October 25: Suspected militants killed three persons, including two brothers in at Duraswani Lolab in the frontier district of Kupwara.

 
Official spokesman told that militants shot at and critically wounded two brothers —Matloob Ahmed Ganai (25) and Hafiz Ahmed Ganai (18) at Duraswani Lolab in the frontier district of Kupwara last evening. 

The injured were hospitalized where they succumbed to their injuries this morning, he said. 
· ONE PERSON BEHEADED 

Srinagar, October 29: A 24-year-old civilian, believed to be an informer of security forces, has been found slaughtered to death in Yarwan forest in Rajpora area of Pulwama.
 
Reports said unidentified gunmen, believed to be militants, appeared at Qasba Yar in Rajpora area of Pulwama district late last evening and kidnapped 24-year-old Mohammad Iqbal Mir son of Mohammad Afzal Mir. While residents and family members lodged a report with Police to trace the youth, his decapitated body was recovered later from the nearby jungle of Yarwan. His torso and head were recovered and handed over to his family for burial.

 
Reports said that Mir was believed to be an informer of security forces. Officials declined to confirm or deny but added that a note, purportedly written on behalf of Hizbul Mujahideen and labeling the individual an informant, had been recovered from the site of killing. However, no militant organisation has immediately claimed responsibility for kidnapping and killing the youth.

· ‘INFORMER’ SLAUGHTERED 

Srinagar, October 7: Police recovered a head and a torso of an alleged informer of troops from Sopore in north Kashmir’s Baramulla district. 

 
Reports said that tension gripped Sopore town when people spotted a human head there. Police rushed to the spot and took the head in its possession. The torso was later recovered from nearby Arampora area. 

Police investigations revealed that militants had abducted the slain man, identified as Muhammad Shafi Mir son of Muhammad Yusuf who worked for 161 battalion of Territorial Army, from his house at Gund Mohalla Brath Kalan, Sopore on October night.

· TWO STUDENTS KIDNAPPED, ONE KILLED 

October 30: In another incident, suspected militants kidnapped two in Gulabgarh area of Mahore under the jurisdiction of Reasi police district. While one of the students was killed and another injured, the constable was untraced.

 
According to SSP Reasi J L Sharma said the militants gunned down one of the student Nissar Ahmed son of Abdul Rashid in captivity and injured another student Bashir Ahmed son of Abdul Rashid. 


Reports said both students were kidnapped by the same outfit last year also but they had managed to escape from captivity of the militants after a week. 

· IED ROCKS KULGAM 

October 16: A powerful IED explosion rocked Kulgam area of south Kashmir.

 
Reports said a powerful IED explosion rocked Chancer Kulgam in Islamabad district when a patrolling party of the CRPF’s 5th batallion was passing through the area. 

However, no one was injured in the blast. 

· IED EXPLOSION AT BIJBEHARA

October 21: Suspected militants exploded a powerful Improvised Explosive Device near Public Health Engineering Divisional office at Bijbehara in south Kashmir’s Islamabad district, targeting a Sub Divisional Police Officer (SDPO), Raja Ajaz. 

 
However, the SDPO escaped unhurt while his official vehicle was damaged in the blast, police said.

· PEOPLE ALLEGE HARASSMENT

Srinagar, October 1: The residents of Chandhara Pampore (Pulwama) have complained that the troops of 50 Rashtriya Rifles stationed in the area are unnecessarily harassing the people. 

A delegation from the area told that the soldiers don’t allow the people to move after evenings. “During the ongoing Holy month of Ramadan, we offer evening prayers at home due to the fear of harassment,” said the delegation. 

 
“The people are picked up frequently for questioning and released after being tortured,” it added. 

· IMAM ABDUCTED

Srinagar, October 5: An Imam (one who leads prayers) was abducted allegedly by police from a mosque in Alamgari Bazaar area of the old city on October 4th evening, reports said 

Next day, Showkat Ahmed son of Noor Alam, the imam from Banihal in Jammu’s Doda district, was abducted by "cops in civvies" after Tarawi (night) prayers from Thanthar Masjid, Alamgari Bazaar, reports said. 

"The Imam was later bundled into a Gypsy," they said. Local residents said they approached Zadibal police station to register a complaint but cops didn’t respond. Superintendent of Police Hazratbal, Bashir Ahmed Parray told that the police was looking into the matter. 

· LOOTER GOVT GUNMAN ARRESTED

Srinagar, October 5: Handwara police has arrested a government gunman who snatched a cell phone and rupees 49,000 cash from a businessman two weeks ago. 

 
Police arrested Fayaz War, the accused government gunman working for Army’s 33 Rashtriya Rifles battalion from his home at Magam on October 5 morning time, police sources said. They said the accused gunman confessed before police that he gave major portion of the looted cash to a Major of 33 RR. 

 
The accused had snatched Rs 49,000 and the cell phone from Bashir Ahmad Dar of Ladura, a fruit merchant, outside the 33 RR’s Warpora camp. The gunman took shelter inside the camp after beating up the merchant who ran after the gunman and pleaded for his money and phone. 

 
Fayaz has looted cell phones and money from some local residents also. 
· 4 OF FAMILY INJURED IN SHOOTOUT

Srinagar, October 16: Four members of a family were injured in a shootout in Jammu’s Poonch district on evening of October 15.

Police said unidentified gunmen intruded into the house of Fazal Karim son of Umar Din at Banola Mendhar in Poonch on Sunday night and resorted to indiscriminate firing, injuring four family members, including Karim. The injured were hospitalized. 

The motive for the shootout was not known.

· 72 YEAR OLD ARRESTED
October 16: Hundreds of residents of Sumlar, Bandipora held protests against the arrest of a 72-year-old man by troops of 14 Rashtriya Rifles (RR). 

Reports said, Muhammad Sadiq Ganie was arrested near Kunan village when he was traveling on way to Bandipore town from Sumlar. Ganie was dragged out from the bus and severely thrashed by the troops before being taken to 14 RR’s Kunan camp, reports said. As the news of Ganie’s arrest reached his native village Sumlar, the villagers took to streets and launched protests in the area.

Senior Superintendent of Police, Baramulla Viplav Kumar told that the aged man was “sheltering militants.” 
· CIVILIAN’S EAR CHOPPED OFF
October 19: Unidentified persons abducted a civilian identified as Abdul Majid Bhat son of Abdur Rashid of Tekipora Kupwara from Sopur town. His ear was chopped off before he was set free by his abductors. Bhat was rushed to hospital. 

· HUGE ACCOMMODATION COMING UP FOR CRPF PERSONNEL 
October 12: The Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) will construct a group centre on 125 acre of land in Lethpora village of Pulwama district in south Kashmir to meet the shortage of accommodation for its personnel in the Valley. 

The centre will be self-contained township having all facilities such as shopping complex, hospital, school, bank and post office. 

CRPF Director General J K Sinha laid the foundation stone of the centre, which would provide family accommodation to 4000 personnel. 

 
Due to shortage of accommodation, the CRPF personnel would also be provided accommodation in this centre. 
CHRONOLOGY OF THE INCIDENTS IN OCTOBER
Oct 1: One LeT militant killed in violence related incident while a dead body of a village headman from Begga Nallah Gool in Udhampur district Jammu and a trooper shot himself dead. 

Oct 2: Four persons including two minors were injured in separate incidents across the state. 

Oct 3: Two HM militants were killed in an encounter in the valley. 
Oct 4: Two LeT militants, three civilians and five police personnel were killed in various incidents of violence across the state.

Oct 5: Four militants including two Al Mansoorain militants, one JeM militant and two CRPF personnel were killed in separate incidents of violence. 

Oct 6: One Al Badr militant and one civilian were killed in violence related incidents while two dead bodies were recovered from separate places. Also an army official killed himself by committing suicide. 
Oct 7: Five infiltrators, two army men including a Captain, a police head constable and army informer were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state.   

Oct 8: Three infiltrators, one-army personnel and one civilian were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state. 

Oct 9: No incident of killing reported. 
Oct 10: Four army men including one Junior Commissioned Officer (JCO) and one LeT militant were killed while army claimed that they have recovered the dead bodies of four infiltrators who were killed in encounter with them. 

Oct 11: One militant was killed in an encounter with troops in Poonch.

Oct 12: Three militants were killed while a CPI (M) activist was shot at in separate incidents of violence across the state. 

Oct 13: Two HuM militants and one army personnel were killed in separate incidents of violence. 

Oct 14: Four militants were killed in separate incidents of violence in the valley. 

Oct 15: Two HM militants and one policeman were killed in the state. 

Oct 16: Four family members were injured in Poonch when attacked by unknown gunmen. 

Oct 17: Two policemen were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state. 

Oct 18: A CRPF constable and a BSF personnel committed suicide in the state. 

Oct 19: Four infiltrators and one-army personnel were killed while a teenager died when he fiddled with an abandoned explosive device in Rajouri. 

Oct 20: Seven militants including two of Al Badr and one of LeT, one civilian were killed in various incidents of violence across the state. 

Oct 21: Nine militants including one HM militant and a civilian were killed in separate incidents of violence in while an army soldier shot dead three of his colleagues and later committed suicide at Budhal Rajouri where they were posted  and troops allegedly killed a youth in custody at Pakarpora, Budgam.

Oct 22: One LeT militant, two HM militants ands a police constable were killed in different incidents of violence across the state. 

Oct 23: An army soldier two of his colleagues at Budhal in Rajouri district. 

Oct 24: Two HM militants, one militant porter, one Congress worker and a policeman were killed in various incidents of violence across the state.  

Oct 25: One Ex- SPO, two civilians and one Al Badr militant in separate incidents of violence in the state. 

Oct 26: One Special Police Officer allegedly killed by SOG in Baramulla district.  

Oct 27: One-army personnel, two militants whose identities were not ascertained and a trade union activist were killed in violence related incidents in the state.  While a soldier committed suicide. 

Oct 28: Two militants, soldier and two civilians including a woman were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. 

Oct 29: Throat slit body of a shopkeeper Mohammad Iqbal Mir s/o Afzal Mir of Rajpora, Pulwama was recovered. The deceased was kidnapped by unknown gunmen from his house while an army soldier was shot dead by his colleague in Udhampure, Jammu. 

Oct 30: Two HM militants and a student were killed in violence related incidents in valley.

Oct 31: One HM militant and a civilian were killed in violence related incidents across the state while a soldier killed his colleague Lt Colonel in rank at Harwan in the Srinagar city’s outskirts.  
KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF OCTOBER 2006

	DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	Oct 01
	1
	1
	-
	1 village head 

	Oct 02
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Oct 03
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Oct 04
	5
	2
	3
	-

	Oct 05
	2
	4
	
	

	Oct 06
	1
	1
	1
	2 dead bodies recovered 

	Oct 07
	3
	5
	-
	1 troops informer

	Oct 08
	1
	3
	1
	-

	Oct 09
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Oct 10
	4
	5
	-
	-

	Oct 11
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Oct 12
	3
	-
	-
	-

	Oct 13
	1
	2
	-
	-

	Oct 14
	-
	4
	-
	-

	Oct 15
	1
	2
	-
	-

	Oct 16
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Oct 17
	2
	-
	-
	-

	Oct 18
	2
	-
	-
	-

	Oct 19
	1
	4
	1
	-

	Oct 20
	-
	7
	1
	-

	Oct 21
	4
	9
	2
	-

	Oct 22
	1
	3
	-
	-

	Oct 23
	2
	-
	-
	-

	Oct 24
	1
	2
	-
	1 militant porter & 1 political activist 

	Oct 25
	1
	1
	2
	-

	Oct 26
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Oct 27
	2
	2
	-
	1 trade union activist 

	Oct 28
	1
	2
	2
	-

	Oct 29
	1
	-
	1
	-

	Oct 30
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Oct 31
	1
	1
	1
	-

	TOTAL
	42
	65
	16
	7


	DATE
	CUSTODIAL AND EXTRA JUDICIAL KILLINGS
	WOMEN
	CHILDREN
	ALLEGED DISAPPEARANCES

	Oct 6
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Oct 21
	1 CK 
	-
	-
	-

	Oct 26
	1 EJK
	
	
	

	Oct 28
	-
	1
	-
	-




WOMEN – CHILDREN KILLED





Oct 6: Dead body of an unidentified woman was spotted and fished out from Lidder River. Cause of her death was not immediately clear.





Oct 28: A woman identified as Sharifa Bano wife of Khatir Din was killed and a minor boy identified as Dhani Ram son of Punjab Singh injured in a grenade explosion at Jamslan Mahore in Jammu’s Udhampur district. 
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